


Abuse Prevention Act ("Telemarketing Act"), 15 US.C. §§ 6101-6108, to obtain temporary, 

preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, 

the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other equitable relief for 

Defendants' acts or 



refonnation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-

gotten monies. 15 U.S.c. §§ 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A)-(B), 57b, 1679h(b), 6102(c), and 6105(b). 

DEFENDANTS 

6. Defendant 1 st Guaranty Mortgage Corporation, Inc. (" 1 st Guaranty"), is a Florida 

corporation with its principal place of business at 5100 

gotten 



1 st Guaranty, Spectrum, Crossland, and Scoreleaper, set forth in this Complaint. In connection 

with the matters alleged herein, Defendant Stephen Lalonde transacts or has transacted business 

in this district and throughout the United States. 

11. Defendant Amy Lalonde has been president and director of Spectrum and 

participated directly in the mortgage financing activities of Spectrum and 1 st Guaranty. At times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, she has formulated, directed, 

controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices related to 

mortgage loan refinancing set forth in this Complaint. In connection with the matters alleged 

herein, Defendant Amy Lalonde transacts or has transacted business in this district and 

throughout the United States. 
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DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

Mortgage Loan Refmancing Activities 

14. Beginning in at least 2007, Defendants pt Guaranty, Spectrum, Stephen Lalonde, 

and Amy Lalonde advertised, marketed, promoted, offered for sale, and sold home mortgage 

loan refinancing services to consumers in Florida and throughout the United States. Defendants 

1st Guaranty, Spectrum, Stephen Lalonde, and Amy Lalonde are hereafter identified collectively 

as "Mortgage Refinance Defendants." 

15. Mortgage Refinance Defendants advertised their services through the Internet, 

including at www.lstguarantymortgage.com. Mortgage Refinance Defendants' Internet 



signing the appropriate closing papers. They learned of pt Guaranty's failure to pay off their 

original mortgage loans as promised when they received notice from their mortgage companies 

that they had fallen behind on their payments. 

20. Consumers who called to complain about 1 st Guaranty or Spectrum pay t09ice o n 4 e n  c o 8 y  c o 8 5 u r e  





Mortgage Loan Modification Activities 

31. Since at least January 2009, Defendants 1st Guaranty, Crossland, Stephen 

Lalonde, and Michael Petroski have advertised, marketed, promoted, offered for sale, and sold 

home mortgage loan modification services to consumers in Florida and throughout the United 

States. Since at least May 2009, Defendant Scoreleaper has advertised, marketed, promoted, 

offered for sale, and sold home mortgage loan modification services to consumers in Florida and 

throughout the United States. Defendants 1 st Guaranty, Crossland, Scoreleaper, Stephen 

Lalonde, and Michael Petroski are hereafter identified collectively as "Loan Modification 

Defendants. " 

32. Loan Modification Defendants pitch their services to consumers who are seeking 

to modify their existing home mortgages to obtain more favorable terms. 

33. Loan Modification Defendants advertise their services through the Internet. Loan 

Modification Defendants' Internet advertisements encourage consumers to call for further 

information. Those who call typically speak with a sales representative. 

34. Loan Modification Defendants represent to consumers that within as little as two 

weeks, they will obtain 



THE CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS ACT 

37. The Credit Repair Organizations Act took effect on April 1, 1997, and has since 

that date remained in full force and effect. 

38. The Credit Repair Organizations Act defines a "credit repair organization" as: 

[A ]ny person who uses any instrumentality of interstate commerce 
or the mails to sell, provide, or perform (or represent that such 
person can or will sell, provide, or perform) any service, in return 
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Act constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice in commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of 

the FTC Act, 15 US.c. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS ACT 

COUNT ONE 

43. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, 

offering for sale, or sale of services to consumers by a credit repair organization, as that term is 

defined in Section 403(3) of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, 15 US.C. § 1679a(3), Credit 

Repair Defendants have made untrue or misleading representations to induce consumers to 

purchase their credit repair services, including, but not limited to, representations that Credit 

Repair Defendants can remove truthful, negative items from consumers' credit reports, and 

thereby substantially improve the consumers' credit scores and use the improved scores to obtain 

successfully home mortgages for the consumers. 

44. Credit Repair Defendants have thereby violated Section 404(a)(3) of the Credit 

Repair Organizations Act, 15 US.C. § 1679b(a)(3). 

COUNT TWO 

45. In numerous instances, in connection with their operation as a credit repair 

organization, as that term is defined in Section 403(3) of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1679a(3), Credit Repair Defendants have charged or received money or other valuable 

consideration for the performance of credit repair services before such services were fully 

performed. 

46. Credit Repair Defendants have thereby violated Section 404(b) of the Credit 

Repair Organizations Act, 15 US.c. § 1679b(b). 
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THE TELEMARKETING SALES 



THE FTC ACT 

53. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits "unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce." 

54. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive 

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT 

COUNT FOUR 

55. In numerous instances in connection wit10.7431 0 0 11.1 361.31 7T 



obtain refinanced home mortgage loans for consumers and use the proceeds of those loans to pay 

off consumers' existing mortgage loans fully and promptly. 

59. In truth and in fact, in numerous of these instances, Mortgage Refinance 

Defendants did not use the proceeds to fully and promptly payoff consumers' existing mortgage 

loans. 

60. Therefore, Mortgage Refinance Defendants' representations as set forth in 

paragraph 58 are false and misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act. 

COUNT SIX . 

61. In numerous instances in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, 

offering for sale, or sale of home mortgage loan modification services, Loan Modification 

Defendants 



addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. 
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preliminary injunctions, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and the appointment of a 

receIver; 

B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act, the 

Credit Repair Organizations Act, and the TSR by Defendants; 

C. A ward such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the Credit Repair Organizations Act, and 

the TSR, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the 

refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and 

D. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

WILLARD K. TOM 

600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., NJ-2122 
Washington, D.C. 20580 
Tel: (202) 326-3281 (Spiegel) 
Tel: (202) 326-3147 (Rodriguez) 
Fax: (202) 326-2558 
Email: dspiegel@ftc.gov; erodriguez@ftc.gov 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
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